

VMware Integrations



# **Table of contents**

Connecting Equinix ExpressRoute to Microsoft Azure VMware Solution	3
	3
Summary	4
Architecture	5
Requirements	6
Workflow	7
Step 1 – Create a Resource Group	7
Step 2 - Create the ExpressRoute	7
Step 3 – Create Equinix Connection	9
Step 4 – Configuring BGP Peering	3
Configure BGP Neighbor(s) in Equinix colo ToRs1	3
Configure Peering in Azure1	3
Step 5 – Connecting ExpressRoute to AVS	4
Troubleshooting	.8
Lessons Learned 2	0
Additional Resources/References 2	1
Author 2	2
	3







# Summary

This article will guide you through the steps to connect Equinix to Microsoft Azure VMware Solution (AVS) over a private connection using ExpressRoute. Paraphrasing Microsoft's explanation of ExpressRoute, it is a private connection between the Microsoft Cloud and your network. It offers the flexibility of dynamic routing, built in redundancy, uptime SLAs, and it does not traverse the public Internet. Since ExpressRoute is a direct connection into the Microsoft Cloud, it allows the direct consumption of solutions inside Microsoft Azure, allowing you to expand capacity on-demand. You are now able to take advantage of Microsoft Azure as a hyperscaler and quickly deploy a new AVS cluster to expand your VMware capacity, deploy cloud-native apps, or programmatically scale up & down your deployment, and connect to those deployments over a secure private connection.



# Architecture

This guide focuses specifically on connecting a colocation environment hosted in Equinix to Microsoft Azure and subsequently into AVS. There are a couple of different types of ExpressRoute connectivity models, but this article will utilize the **cloud exchange model connecting through a service provider**. The design integrates components from the colocation environment, leveraging native Equinix Fabric solutions, and builds a private connection directly into Microsoft's network as if the colocation environment is directly adjacent to the cloud infrastructure. Azure's ExpressRoute circuit makes a connection from the colocation environment to a pair of active/active Microsoft Enterprise Edges (MSEE). The deployment of an AVS private cloud creates dedicated Microsoft Enterprise Edges (D-MSEE) and connects the two different edge types by automatically creating an ExpressRoute to allow connectivity between native Azure solutions and the AVS private cloud. ExpressRoute Global Reach is then enabled to stitch the two ExpressRoutes together and share routing information. The diagram below shows a high level of what the end-to-end solution will look like.





# Requirements

This article assumes a fully functional VMware SDDC is deployed in an Equinix datacenter with top of rack switches (ToRs) configured and managed by the customer, and those switches are connected to one or more ports in Equinix Fabric. Since network configurations vary by vendor, the steps to configure the ToRs is considered out of scope for this article. On the Microsoft Azure side, an AVS cluster is fully deployed. If connectivity to native Azure is desired, an Azure Virtual Network (vNet) with the required gateway subnet specifically named "GatewaySubnet" should also be deployed. Configuring the ExpressRoute connection to the Virtual Network Gateway to allow communication across the ExpressRoute from the colocation environment to native Azure solutions is also considered out of scope for this article. At a high level, an ExpressRoute circuit needs to be created in Azure and configured to allow communication between the two sites leveraging BGP for dynamic route sharing. This article will cover the steps to peer Azure to Equinix, but assumes the reader has the knowledge to configure the required components on the Equinix side in the ToRs. Equinix is one of the cloud exchange providers, thus no third party vendors are needed to create this private connection.

First, gather these requirements:

- Two /30 private IP subnets
  - transit networks for both Primary & Secondary virtual connections
    - Both are needed during the Azure ExpressRoute creation, even if you're doing a single non-redundant link in Equinix Fabric
    - $\circ\;$  These subnets should not overlap any other subnets in the environment
- Origin VLAN ID
  - $\,\circ\,$  For transit network on the colo ToRs
- Destination VLAN ID
  - $\circ~$  For the Azure side
- BGP ASN for colo ToRs
  - $\,\circ\,$  16 bit and 32 bit ASNs are supported
  - $\circ~$  Microsoft reserves 65515 to 65520, do not use those
- Microsoft Edge router BGP ASN is 12076
  - $\circ~$  BGP neighbor ASN from colo ToRs
  - $\circ \ https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/expressroute/expressroute-routing \texttt{#}autonomous-system-numbers-asn$



## Workflow

After the requirements have been gathered, proceed with the following steps.

#### Step 1 - Create a Resource Group

As a best practice, create a new Resource Group specifically for this ExpressRoute. By having this level of separation between the different components, it helps ensure actions taken at a Resource Group level for a separate Resource Group doesn't impact the newly created ExpressRoute.

Log into the Azure portal, navigate to Resource Groups and click Create. Provide the name and location of this new Resource Group.

### 

Subscription * ()	as	$\sim$
Resource group * i	Equinix-ExpressRoute	~
Resource details		
Region * 🕕	(US) East US	$\sim$

Adding tags is useful if you want to differentiate this ExpressRoute or associate it to a broader use or business unit (prod/dev, EUC/E-Commerce, etc). Navigate to the newly created Resource Group once provisioning has completed.

#### Step 2 - Create the ExpressRoute

The newly created Equinix-ExpressRoute Resource Group should be empty. Click Create Resources, or the Create button at the top left inside the Resource Group, ensuring not to click Create under Resource Groups or a new Resource Group may be created inadvertently. Clicking Create will take you to the Marketplace, in the search bar, type "ExpressRoute" and look for the icon that looks like a triangle:





Click Create, select the new Resource Group we created, the desired region, provide a name, then click Next: Configuration.

# Create ExpressRoute

Basics Configuration Tags Review + create

Use Azure ExpressRoute to create private connections between Azure datacenters and infrastructure on your premises or in a colocation environment. Establish connections to Azure at an ExpressRoute location, such as an Exchange provider facility, or directly connect to Azure from your existing WAN network, such as a multiprotocol label switching (MPLS) VPN, provided by a network service provider.

Learn more about Express Route circuits

#### Project details

Select the subscription to manage deployed resources and costs. Use resource groups like folders to organize and manage all your resources.

Subscription * 🕡	dts	$\sim$
Resource group * i	Equinix-ExpressRoute	~
	Create new	
Instance details		
Region * 🕡	East US	$\sim$
Name * 🛈	Equinix-AVS-ExpressRoute	~

Since this ExpressRoute connection is provided through Equinix, select Provider for the Port type, select Create new, and then select Equinix as the provider. The peering location should be where the Equinix ports are, and select the bandwidth needed for the deployment. You can increase bandwidth after provisioning, if needed. Standard SKU should suffice for the majority of deployments, but if you want to connect more than 10 virtual networks, more than 4000 routes, or need global routing, select the Premium SKU. The billing model has two options: pay for the amount of data transferred (Metered), or pay a flat rate for unlimited data transfer (Unlimited). Since this is an all new, no "classic" operations are required. Tags can be assigned as-needed to associate this ExpressRoute circuit with other resources in your environment.



# Create ExpressRoute

Basics Config	juration Tags	Review + create
---------------	---------------	-----------------

ExpressRoute circuits can connect to Azure through a service provider or directly to Azure at a global peering location. Learn more about circuit types

Port type * (i)	<ul> <li>Provider</li> <li>Direct</li> </ul>	
Create new or import from classic * 🕡	Create new     Import	
Provider * 🛈	Equinix	$\sim$
Peering location * (i)	Washington DC	~
Bandwidth * 🕕	100Mbps	~
SKU * 🛈	<ul> <li>Standard</li> <li>Premium</li> </ul>	
Billing model * 🔋	<ul> <li>Metered</li> <li>Unlimited</li> </ul>	
Allow classic operations ①	Ves No	

The deployment of the ExpressRoute resource in Azure is a two part process and must be completed in the Equinix Fabric. The ExpressRoute provisioning process will take several minutes to complete, you cannot proceed to the Equinix component until the Azure component is provisioned

#### Step 3 - Create Equinix Connection

As pointed out in the requirements section, you'll need ports set up in Equinix Fabric for this next step. It is assumed that "Standard" port types with Dot1q encapsulation are provisioned in Equinix Fabric. Log into **Equinix Fabric** and either navigate to the port(s) and click Create Connection, or click the Connections drop-down menu and select Create Connection. Locate Microsoft Azure and click "Select Services". The list is not alphabetical, so you may have to scroll down to locate it. Since this is a regular ExpressRoute, select "Azure ExpressRoute" and click Create Connection. The wizard outlines the steps needed to create the ExpressRoute, starting with the Service Key generated during the previous step of creating the ExpressRoute in Azure (obfuscated from the image below). **To get this Service Key**, log into the Azure portal, navigate to the ExpressRoute Resource Group, click the newly created ExpressRoute, and copy the Service Key displayed.



📋 Delete 🏷 Refresh				
i Initiate the provisioning process with you	ır service provider.			
∧ Essentials				
Resource group (move) : Equinix-ExpressRo	ute		Provider : Equinix	
Circuit status : Enabled			Provider status : Not provisioned	
Location : East US			Peering location : Washington DC	
Subscription (move)			Bandwidth : 100 Mbps	
Subscription ID			Service key :	
Tags (edit) : <u>Click here to add</u>	tags			
Peerings				
Туре	Status	Primary subnet	Secondary subnet	Last modified by
Azure private	Not provisioned		-	
Azure public	Not provisioned		-	-
Microsoft	Not provisioned		-	
Global Reach				
ExpressRoute Global Reach allows you to lin Microsoft's global network. Learn more	k your ExpressRoute circuits together to make	a private network between your on-premise:	s networks. With Global Reach, your branch offices can direc	ctly exchange data with each other through your Ex
Global Reach name	ExpressRoute Circuit na	me 🛈	IPv4 Subnet ①	IPv6 Subnet(Preview) 🛈
Add Global Reach Save				

Click "Create a Connection to Azure ExpressRoute" in the Equinix Fabric portal. In the wizard, select the "Origin Port" that is connected to the VMware SDDC colocation environment. For redundancy, two ports should be selected, but only one required.

eview	Origin Port	Speed  Latency (RTT)	Microsoft Azure	
	Origin Port or Virtual Device	Speed - Latency (RTT)	Microsoft Azure	
	Location	Latency (RTT)	<u> </u>	
lacing this ord	er will create both a primary and a secondary connection using a sin	igle Azure ExpressRoute Service Key.		
lacing this ord	er will create both a primary and a secondary connection using a sin ged for both Connections.	igle Azure ExpressRoute Service Key.		
lacing this ord ou will be char Primary Orig ocations with	er will create both a primary and a secondary connection using a sin ged for both Connections. <b>in</b> ports or Virtual Devices	igle Azure ExpressRoute Service Key.  Destination MICROSOFT I	ocations you can connect with	
Placing this ord fou will be char Primary Orig Locations with Connect Usin	er will create both a primary and a secondary connection using a sin ged for both Connections. in ports or Virtual Devices	Ingle Azure ExpressRoute Service Key.	ocations you can connect with cation, enter your Microsoft Azure Service Key	

Click Port under Primary Origin and drill down to the port connected to the colocation environment, repeat to create a redundant link, repeat to create a redundant link or select "Create a Single Connection" for Redundant Origin if a secondary connection is not needed. Enter the Service Key in the field provided and wait for the portal to discover the Azure ExpressRoute. The Equinix portal will reach over to Azure to pull the information using the Service Key, displaying a spinning circle while retrieving that information.



Destination MICROSOFT locations you can connect with	
To see the location, enter your Microsoft Azure Service Key	
	0
is should take less than a minute and will switch to a green check mark when done.	
Destination MICROSOFT locations you can connect with	
To see the location, enter your Microsoft Azure Service Key	

Ashburn

The location is defined by the Service Key:

<1 ms

Latency (RTT)

Т

It should display the chosen location, connection speed, and provide an estimated monthly charge for the new ExpressBout

It should display the chosen location, connection speed, and provide an estimated monthly charge for the new ExpressRoute connection. Click Next.

Provide the connection details from the requirements gathered earlier in this article:



~

Select Locations	Connection Details	Review	
Connection Details			
Preview 110138-DC1-CX-PRI-02 Ashburn	loo M Latency <1r	ed Ibps (RTT) ms	
Placing this order will create both a primary and a secondary connect You will be charged for both Connections.	ion using a single Azure ExpressRoute Se	rvice Key. Purchase Order Number	Optional
Connection Name		The Purchase Order number will be included in the order confirmation email	
Example: CompanyName_DC5_Pri		Example: P01544555	
VLAN ID Enter a number between 2 and 4092			
Peering Type Selection Select Peering Type			
O Microsoft O Private			

Provide a connection name, the VLAN ID from our requirements section for "Origin VLAN" should be provided and should be configured on the Equinix ToRs. This article uses VLAN ID 40, and named the connection "AVS-ExpressRoute". Peering type depends on the services consumed on the Microsoft Azure side. This article is using AVS on a Virtual Network, thus Private peering must be selected. Microsoft peering would need to be selected if consuming O365, as an example. Seller C-tag is optional, but this is where you should enter the VLAN ID of the Azure side, and is the "Destination VLAN" from the requirements above. This article uses VLAN ID 81 for this deployment. This would be the same VLAN ID that will be entered in the Azure portal while completing the peering.

In the connection summary before submitting the connection configuration, optionally add one, or more, email addresses to notify users when the provisioning is complete:

Connection Summary		
Connection Name	AVS-ExpressRoute	Pricing Overview
Buyer Port		Connection Monthly Charge
Buyer VLAN ID	40	Additional taxes and/or fees may apply, depending on the Metro. Billing will when the Connection is provisioned.
Speed	100 Mbps	는 Design Summary
Billing Tier		
Purchase Order Number		
Service Key		Notifications
Average last month latency	< 1 ms	Enter email address(es) that will receive notifications about this Connection:

Submit the configuration if all looks well. The provisioning process typically completes in less than 10 minutesWatch the



connection status in the Equinix Fabric portal, Equinix Status will show Provisioned and Provider Status will show to Pending BGP when peering is ready to be configured in the Azure portal to complete the ExpressRoute configuration.

#### Step 4 - Configuring BGP Peering

This step consists of two parts to establish dynamic routing between Microsoft Azure and the Equinix VMware SDDC:

- Configure the colo ToRs for BGP with the Azure ExpressRoute as the BGP peer/neighbor
  - $^{\circ}$  The "origin VLAN" will be used here for the /30 network gathered in the requirements section.
  - $\circ$  The local ASN configured on the ToRswill be used in the Azure portal.
- Configure Peering in the Azure portal to peer with our Equinix colo ToRs.

#### Configure BGP Neighbor(s) in Equinix colo ToRs

The brand and model of switches deployed will dictate the configuration needed inside the ToRs. The BGP neighbor IP will be the second IP address of the /30 subnet from our requirements section. Microsoft assigns the second IP in the range to routers inside Azure, and **the ASN is 12076** 

- BGP Neighbor IP: second IP of first subnet (primary or single port)
- ASN: 12076
- BGP Neighbor IP: second IP of second subnet (optional, only if secondary port configured for redundancy)
- ASN: 12076

#### Configure Peering in Azure

Log into the Azure portal and navigate to the newly created ExpressRoute. Under the section Peerings select Azure Private:

Delete 🔾 Refre	sh			
∧ Essentials				
Resource group (move)	: PSE-Eq-Azure-ExpressRoute		Provider : Equinix	
Circuit status	: Enabled		Provider status : Provisioned	
Location	: East US		Peering location : Washington DC	
Subscription (move)	:		Bandwidth : 100 Mbps	
Subscription ID	:		Service key :	
Tags ( <u>edit</u> )	: <u>Click here to add tags</u>			
Peerings				
Туре	Status	Primary subnet	Secondary subne	Last modified by
Azure private	Not provisioned	-	-	-
Azure public	Not provisioned	-	-	-
Microsoft	Not provisioned	-	-	-
Global Reach				
ExpressRoute Global Re Microsoft's global netwo Learn more	ach allows you to link your ExpressRoute circuits ork.	together to make a private network between your on	premises networks. With Global Reach, your branch of	fices can directly exchange data with each other through your
Global Reach name	Expre	ssRoute Circuit name 🕕	IPv4 Subnet 🛈	IPv6 Subnet(Preview) 🛈
Add Global Reach	Save			

In the Private Peering section, provide the following information:

- Peer ASN this is the ASN of the colo ToRs in Equinix
- Primary /30 subnet from the requirements gathering
  - Reminder: Microsoft uses the second IP in this subnet for it's router, the first IP must be used for the interface on the ToR interface for this subnet.
- Secondary /30 subnet from the requirements gathering
  - NOTE: Even if single port/link was chosen in the Equinix Fabric portal when setting up the connection, Microsoft Azure still requires the secondary subnet be provided. Ensure it does not overlap any subnets in the environment.
- VLAN ID This is the Azure side VLAN and needs to match what was entered in Seller C-tag when creating the connection in the Equinix Fabric portal, the "Destination VLAN ID" from the requirements gathering.

by Broadcom

🔥 Private peering 👒 🗠	
PSE-Equinix-ExpressRoute	
Peer ASN * ①	
64580	✓
Subnets Both IPv4 IPv6	
IPv4 Primary subnet * ①	IPv4 Secondary subnet * 🛈
192.168.40.0/30	192.168.40.4/30 🗸
C Enable IPv4 Peering ①	
VLAN ID * 🛈	
81	
Shared key	

Click Save to start the BGP peering between Equinix & Azure ExpressRoute. This process will take a few minutes while Microsoft configures it's virtual routers. You can verify the BGP connection is established several ways:

• In the Equinix Fabric portal, navigate to the newly created connection, both Equinix Status and Provider Status will say Provisioned. The links on either side of the connection in the diagram will also be green.

Ash	ibum	Speed 100 Mbps Latency (RTT) <1 ms	Azure ExpressRoute
	Overview Origin Destination	Connection Utilization	
	Connection Name	AVS-ExpressRoute	Edit
	Unique ID		
	Equinix Status	Provisioned	
	Provider Status	Provisioned	

• Log into the ToR and verify the BGP neighbor status is ESTABLISHED

eq-lan-02# show	ip bgp neighbors 192.168.40.2
BGP neighbor is	192.168.40.2, remote AS 12076, local AS 64580 external link
BGP version 4,	remote router ID 104.44.217.152
BGP state ESTA	BLISHED, in this state for 00:10:48

Now that BGP is established, ping should work from the colo ToR in Equinix to the second IP address in the /30 range that is assigned to Microsoft's router for ExpressRoute.

#### Step 5 - Connecting ExpressRoute to AVS

Up to this point in the article, the following items have been deployed:

- A pre-existing AVS cluster
- Equinix Fabric Connection connected to an Azure ExpressRoute Circuit



ExpressRoute Global Reach needs to be enabled on the AVS private cloud to bring the two ExpressRoutes together to allow communication and access to the AVS vCenter from the colocation VMware SDDC in Equinix. A deeper explanation of this can be found under Microsoft Azure VMware Solution Networking in the Additional Resources/References section.

In the Azure portal, generate an authorization key on the newly created ExpressRoute by navigating to the Resource Group and click the ExpressRoute circuit:

∧ Essentials			JSON View	
Subscription (move) :	Deployments : <u>1 Succeeded</u>			
Subscription ID :	Location : East US			
Tags (edit) : <u>Click here to add tags</u>				
Resources       Recommendations         Filter for any field       Type equals all ×       Location equals all ×       † <sub>77</sub> Add filter				
Showing 1 to 1 of 1 records. 🗌 Show hidden types 🛈		No grouping $\checkmark$ == List view	$\sim$	
Name ↑↓	Type ↑↓	Location $\uparrow_{\downarrow}$		
SE-Equinix-ExpressRoute	ExpressRoute circuit	East US		

On the left side of the screen under Settings, click Authorizations, enter a name for the new authorization key, and click save:

PSE-Equinix-ExpressRoute   Authorizations 🖈 🛧 … ExpressRoute circuit				
₽ Search «	层 Save 🗙 Discard 💍 Refresh			
🙏 Overview 🔶	You can reate authorizations that can be redeemed by other circuit users. Circuit users are owners of virtual network gatev as (that are not within the same subscription as the ExpressRoute circuit). Each authorization can be redeemed with one virtual network.			
Activity log				
Access control (IAM)	To redeem authorizations, circuit users will need the resource ID of the ExpressRoute and an unused authorization key.			
Tags	Learn Hore			
Diagnose and solve problems	Resource ID			
Settings				
a Configuration	Name Provisioning state			
⊗ Connections	AVS-ER-Auth			
₽ Authorizations	Enter name			

Once this is done, copy the authorization key and navigate to the AVS Private cloud resource.

On the left under Manage, click Connectivity, ExpressRoute Global Reach, and click Add:





The wording in the Azure portal can be confusing, the placement of "or" and the line break may mislead some to think the Authorization key is unnecessary, which is false. The "or" in this instance is related to selecting the ExpressRoute circuit that's in the same subscription **OR** providing the circuit ID of an ExpressRoute in a different subscription. An authorization key is needed in either case. Circuit ID is needed when connecting an ExpressRoute circuit from a subscription outside of AVS's parent subscription in instances where business units may have their own separate Azure subscriptions.

On-prem cloud connections	
Subscription	
	$\sim$
Resource group	
PSE-Eq-Azure-ExpressRoute	$\sim$
ExpressRoute circuit * (i)	
PSE-Equinix-ExpressRoute	$\sim$
or	
If you have a circuit ID, copy/paste below ③	
Enter an ExpressRoute circuit ID	
Authorization key	
	~

Click Create. The process takes a few minutes, run a continuous ping from the Equinix VMware SDDC to the AVS vCenter to see when the connection is made. The ping will begin to succeed before Azure lists the connection is completed.



The Equinix colocation environment is now connected to the Microsoft Azure VMware Solution.



# Troubleshooting

Follow these steps if everything is configured but neither the Equinix portal nor the ToRs show BGP is established

• A very useful troubleshooting tool is viewing ARP records & the route table learned by the Azure private peering in the Azure portal.

×

• Navigate to the ExpressRoute circuit and click the three-dot menu on the right of Azure private

### 🔥 PSE-Equinix-ExpressRoute 👒 🖈 😁

				JSON View	
Resource group (move	) : <u>PSE-Eq-Azure-ExpressRou</u>	<u>te</u>	Provider : Equinix		
Circuit status	: Enabled		Provider status : Provisioned		
Location	: East US : <u>dts</u> : 4b964c21-e916-4b0e-8525-1f9ff50cac09		Peering location : Washington DC		
Subscription (move)			Bandwidth : 100 Mbps Service key : 8bf7f8fb-e7be-4b39-afa7-42b205b2b460		
Subscription ID					
Tags ( <u>edit</u> )	: Click here to add tags				
Peerings					
Туре	Status	Primary subnet	Secondary subnet	Last modified by	
✓ Azure private	Provisioned	One subnet configured	One subnet configured	Customer	
	Enabled	192.168.40.0/30	192.168.30.4/30	📋 Delete 💙	
				View ARP records	
Azure public	Not provisioned	-	-		

• This is useful in determining if the Azure router is communicating with the Equinix ToR:

Home > PSE-Equinix-ExpressRoute >

# ARP records (Primary) 🛷 🗠

AzurePrivatePeering - PSE-Equinix-ExpressRoute

Primary	Secondary				
Age ↑↓		Interface $\uparrow_{\downarrow}$	IP address $\uparrow_{\downarrow}$	MAC address $\uparrow_{\downarrow}$	
170		On-Prem	192.168.40.1	8c47.bebf.ae62	
0		Microsoft	192.168.40.2	0896.adeb.6c70	

 $\circ~$  The route table is a useful function to validate you're receiving subnet information from the Equinix ToRs, or if you need to set up route filtering

- Start at the ToR switch and verify the IP address assigned to the primary interface is the first IP in the /30 subnet. This article used 192.168.40.0/30, thus the IP on the ToR's interface should be configured as 192.168.40.1/30.
- Verify ping can reach the IP address that is assigned to the Microsoft router, example: 192.168.4.2

   If this fails, verify the Origin/Buy VLAN ID and Destination/Seller C-Tag VLAN IDs are properly configured:





- Notice the destination VLAN tag. This article used VLAN ID 81 for the Seller C-tag, which should match what
  was supplied when configuring peering in the Azure portal. Equinix added the "60." as it translates the
  VLANs. An explanation of this can be found in the Equinix videos in the Additional Resources/References
  section.
- If this is configured properly and ping still fails, engage Equinix to verify the Fabric port configuration.
- If ping now succeeds to the second IP address, but BGP will not establish, verify the proper ASNs are supplied  $\circ$  This article used 192.168.4.1 for the ToR with an ASN of 64580.
  - $\circ~$  Microsoft automatically configured 192.168.4.2 for their router, with an ASN of 12076
  - Log into the ToR switch and validate proper BGP neighbor configuration.
  - $\circ~$  Log into the Azure portal, navigate to the ExpressRoute circuit, select Azure private under Peerings, and validate the Peer ASN is the ASN of the Equinix ToR switch.



### Lessons Learned

One of the biggest hurdles when setting up the ExpressRoute with Equinix was figuring out the VLANs and how they play together. The Equinix side is the "A-Side", and the Microsoft Azure side is the "Z-Side". The A-Side is also referred to as the "Buy" side, which this blog refers to as the "Origin VLAN ID". When creating the connection in Equinix Fabric, it says "Buyer VLAN ID". Equally, the Z-Side may also be referred to as the "Seller" side, which is why it has "Seller C-tag" for the VLAN ID for the Azure side of the connection. The Z-Side is also where the service profiles live, effectively profile-driven network connections, similar to how NSX-T operates.

Equinix has a pair of videos that walk through how the Equinix Cloud Exchange (ECX) switch handles this, linked below under Additional Resources/References. The video references AWS, but in this case, it's synonymous with Azure.



## Additional Resources/References

Microsoft Azure ExpressRoute connectivity models https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/expressroute/expressroute-connectivity-models

Microsoft Azure VMware Solution https://azure.microsoft.com/en-us/products/azure-vmware/

**Microsoft Azure VMware Solution Networking** https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6\_LYsYicacs

**Equinix Fabric** https://www.equinix.com/interconnection-services/equinix-fabric

Equinix ECX & Network Edge videos Part 1: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=geafa3WAiPk Part 2: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=u1s\_48CgCRM

What's new in Azure VMware Solution https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/azure-vmware/azure-vmware-solution-platform-updates



# Author

Luke Huckaba is a Solutions Architect on the Partner Solutions Engineering team in VMware's Office of the CTO. Luke has over 20 years of experience in IT, more than half of that focusing on VMware solutions. He's spent the last several years working with large enterprise customers designing resilient VMware solutions that span multiple clouds and many geographic locations.







